ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

EVELYN CHRISTINE NIXON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-002170

RECEIVED

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DEC 04 2017

SC Court of Appeals

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence found as the result of an unconstitutional frisk that was initiated without reasonable suspicion where a law enforcement officer mistakenly believed he saw a methamphetamine pipe which turned out to be a plastic bowl and extended a purported courtesy to Appellant by detaining her in his police car after frisking her in violation of the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the April 2016 term of court for possession of methamphetamine and possession of drug paraphernalia. R. 92. Her case was called to trial on October 13, 2016 before the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin. Howard Steinberg appeared on behalf of the State, and Jake Erwin represented Appellant. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the one-day bench trial, Judge Verdin found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 82, ll. 15 – 22. She sentenced Appellant to two years' imprisonment suspended to eighteen months of probation, with credit for time served. R. 87, ll. 11 – 16.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress evidence found as the result of an unconstitutional frisk that was initiated without reasonable suspicion where a law enforcement officer mistakenly believed he saw a methamphetamine pipe which turned out to be a plastic bowl and extended a purported courtesy to Appellant by detaining her in his police car after frisking her in violation of the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution?

On the night of February 18, 2015, Deputy Judson Belding pulled over a Dodge Caravan which allegedly had a broken tail light. R. 8, ll. 22 – R. 9, ll. 12. The record does not indicate that he issued a ticket for the broken tail light. After Belding turned on his blue lights, the driver of the Dodge Caravan “abruptly” stopped by turning left into a gas station. R. 10, ll. 7 – 18. Belding testified that Appellant “immediately” turned into the gas station. R. 26, ll. 4 – 6.

Belding's report of the incident indicated that the van pulled up to a gas pump. R. 27, ll. 1 – 7. The driver, later determined to be Appellant, got out of the van and acknowledged Belding. R. 10, l. 19 – R. 11, ll. 7.

While standing approximately five feet from the van, Belding allegedly saw what he thought to be a “meth pipe or a glass pipe, the kind they use to smoke methamphetamines” in the floorboard area. R. 11, l. 23 – R. 12, l. 6; R. 28, ll. 6 – 16. He later determined that it was not a meth pipe. R. 12, ll. 10 – 13; R. 29, ll. 4 – 11. Neither Belding nor the other officer who responded to the scene took any pictures of this item or collected it for evidence. R. 21, l. 18 – R. 1. R. 22, l. 5; R. 29, ll. 12 – 25; R. 42, ll. 13 – 17. Belding proceeded with the traffic stop, requesting Appellant's driver's license and registration. R. 12, ll. 18 – 20.

Belding refused to allow Appellant to get back in her van, based on his belief that he had seen a methamphetamine pipe. R. 12, l. 18 – R. 13, l. 3. Additionally, he testified that he had concerns with her behavior:

There was a combination of things. Number one, from my experience, upon a traffic stop, any person trying to distance themselves from a vehicle is a suspicion that there is some sort of contraband or crime or some reason they are trying to distance themselves from the vehicle. A second thing would be the shattered out window and the fact that she left the door open with the keys in the ignition, told me at the time that she didn't particularly care to keep the vehicle secure. And my suspicion is that the vehicle was probably stolen because if she's willing to leave it at that intersection with the keys in it and the driver door open, she has no concern for what happens to the vehicle.

R. 13, ll. 8 – 20.

As a result, Belding detained Appellant “due to the investigation [he] would need to conduct. R. 14, ll. 3 – 4. He claimed the scope of the investigation included reviewing “any information on her through the Department of Motor Vehicles, through warrant search or NCIC, and probable cause to search the vehicle... [a]nd all its occupants.” R. 31, ll. 5 – 11. He specifically told Appellant that she was not under arrest. R. 14, ll. 5 – 6. He testified that he had probable cause to search the van due to Appellant's actions. R. 31, ll. 1 – 4.

At the time, Belding claimed to have believed that Appellant was in possession of drug paraphernalia and was “possibly operating a stolen vehicle.” R. 31, ll. 19 – 23. He testified that the facts giving rise to this assertion included the broken tail light, the broken window, the plastic container on the floor of the van, and Appellant's “actions distancing herself from the vehicle.”

R. 31, l. 24 – R. 32, l. 4.

Ostensibly for Appellant's best interests, Belding decided to handcuff Appellant and place her in his police car.¹ R. 14, ll. 7 – 18. As it turns out, Appellant was a licensed driver and allowed to drive the van. R. 15, ll. 1 – 3.

Belding testified that it was department policy to pat down any individuals who were going to be placed in the back seat of his police car. R. 15, l. 21 – R. 16, l. 2. Belding claimed to have “immediately felt what [he] knew to be a glass meth pipe” in Appellant's front right pants pocket. R. 16, ll. 3 – 7. At this time, Appellant notified Belding that he was violating her rights. R. 16, ll. 20 – 21.

Belding claimed to have removed “a glass meth pipe, a razor blade, and a small bag containing a clear crystal substance which field tested positive for methamphetamine.” R. 17, ll. 14 – 19. Appellant repeatedly stated that none of the items in her pockets belonged to her. R. 17, ll. 3 – 5; R. 19, ll. 16 – 19. Belding subsequently arrested Appellant. R. 20, ll. 16 – 19.

Counsel for Appellant moved to suppress all evidence which was garnered as a result of the stop and search. R. 4, ll. 14 – 17. Following the testimony from the two law enforcement officers, Counsel argued his motion:

[W]hat we have here is a ... classic traffic stop, Terry stop, Terry frisk situation ... Where we start to have problems is with the next two phases of the investigation ... Under Terry, and the cases that go off of that, in order to initiate a Terry stop, or investigative detention as the officers described, what they would need to have is reasonable suspicion that a serious crime has taken place, that criminal activity was going on... I would argue at that point that they did not have that.

R. 43, l. 22 – R. 44, l. 18.

¹ Belding testified that he “was trying to be kind to [Appellant]” by placing her in his car and affording himself the alleged right to frisk her. R. 33, ll. 6 – 19.

Belding asserted that the outside temperature was eighteen degrees Fahrenheit and that the wind was blowing at eleven miles per hour, according to his research on The Weather Channel's website. R. 32, ll. 12 – 17. Therefore, he placed her in the back of his police car:

- Q: And you couldn't - - you said you couldn't have the detention in the street right there or in the parking lot.
- A: I was trying to be kind to her and not [have] her be cold.
- Q: Oh, okay. So did she say that she was cold?
- A: No.
- Q: She didn't? Did she asked to be placed in your car or did she ask can we go somewhere else or anything else like that?
- A: No.
- Q: No. You felt that she might be cold and so you put her in her - - into your car, right?
- A: Correct.
- Q: Okay. Okay. So now, you put her in your car which means, by department policy, that you need to frisk her, right?
- A: Yes.

R. 33, ll. 6 – 23.

Belding testified that in his experience, "females ... in the area, I would say, 100 percent of the time, always have a knife on them." R. 34, ll. 6 – 10. Therefore, he was going to frisk her just to check for weapons. R. 33, l. 24 – R. 34, l. 1. Defense counsel argued that Belding's justifications for the frisk, a "bad neighborhood and [the fact that Appellant is] a girl," were insufficient. He believed that the officer was using the policy of the sheriff's department as a pretense in order to search Appellant. R. 56, ll. 1 – 9. Even though Appellant had been driving the van and was comfortable with the temperature, Belding sought to take advantage of a departmental policy which allegedly afforded him the right to frisk Appellant. As defense counsel articulated:

If [the officer] could justify that search, [he would have said] I thought she had a gun. Here's why I thought she had a gun. Or I thought she had a knife and here's why I thought she had a knife. That is better than she's a girl in a bad neighborhood. Then, perhaps they would have a good search here. But I think that's where we go off the rails. I think that that moment when [Belding] decided

to frisk her is where we cross over from constitutional behavior, maybe questionable behavior, to absolutely not constitutional behavior on the part of the government in searching her in that way.

R. 56, ll. 10 – 22.

After hearing arguments from both sides, the trial court ruled that the officer could have had reasonable suspicion to believe that Appellant was armed and therefore was justified in the frisk. R. 75 ll. 11 – 21. Noting that this was a close call, the trial court denied Appellant's motion to suppress. R. 75, l. 11 - R. 77, l. 8.

The Fourth Amendment prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. Evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment must be excluded from trial. Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 648, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 6 L.Ed.2d 1081 (1961). The Fourth Amendment applies to all seizures of a person, including only a brief detention. United States v. Brignoni—Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 878, 95 S.Ct. 2574, 45 L.Ed.2d 607 (1975). Pursuant to Terry, a police officer with a reasonable suspicion based on articulable facts that a person is involved in criminal activity may stop, briefly detain, and question that person for investigative purposes, without treading upon his Fourth Amendment rights. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 69, 572 S.E.2d 456, 459 (2002). Reasonable suspicion requires a particularized and objective basis that would lead a person to suspect another of criminal activity. United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 418, 101 S.Ct. 690, 66 L.Ed.2d 621 (1981). In determining whether reasonable suspicion exists, the totality of the circumstances must be considered. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. at 69, 572 S.E.2d at 459. "While such a detention does not require probable cause, it does require something more than an 'inchoate and unparticularized suspicion' or 'hunch.'" United States v. Sprinkle, 106 F.3d 613, 617 (4th Cir.1997) (quoting Terry, 392 U.S. at 27, 88 S.Ct. 1868). Therefore, in reviewing reasonable suspicion determinations, a court must look to the totality of

the circumstances “to see whether the detaining officer has a particularized and objective basis for suspecting legal wrongdoing.” United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273, 122 S.Ct. 744, 151 L.Ed.2d 740 (2002).

Moreover, “[w]hile nervous behavior is a pertinent factor in determining reasonable suspicion ... the single element of nervousness [should not be parlayed by law enforcement] into a myriad of factors supporting reasonable suspicion.” State v. Moore, 415 S.C., 245 254-55, 781 S.E.2d 897, 902 (2016). “The police officer may make reasonable inferences regarding the criminality of a situation in light of his experience, but he must be able to point to articulable facts that, in conjunction with his inferences, ‘reasonably warrant’ the intrusion.” Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. 169, 182, 754 S.E.2d 862, 869 (2014). (quoting Terry, 392 U.S. at 21, 27, 88 S.Ct. 1868).

The State bears the burden to demonstrate that it was entitled to conduct the search or seizure under an exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement. State v. Gamble, 405 S.C. 409, 416, 747 S.E.2d 784, 787 (2013). The State also bears the burden to show that the warrantless entry was limited in scope and duration in accordance with the exigent circumstances which required its presence. Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 500, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983).

Belding did not have a particularized and objective basis to suspect illegal activity that would justify the detention and subsequent frisk of Appellant. A shattered window on the van, leaving a door open, and leaving the keys in the ignition are not particularized reasons to suspect illegal activity. It is unlikely that one hundred percent of females in the area were armed with knives. As a result, Appellant's gender and presence in a high crime area are insufficient to give rise to reasonable suspicion.

Arguing under State v. Anderson, defense counsel posited that the proximity of a high crime area alone is insufficient to justify reasonable suspicion. 415 S.C. 441, 783 S.E.2d 51 (2016). As articulated by counsel, “the court in that case said that that is not enough for a Terry stop. You don’t get to have an investigative detention just because of where you are.” R. 45, ll. 8 – 21. The argument is supported by the law: “[B]eing in a high crime area does not provide police officers carte blanche to stop any person they meet on the street ... A person’s proximity to criminal activity, without more, cannot establish reasonable suspicion to detain that individual.” Anderson at 448, 783 S.E.2d at 55.

Nonetheless, the State argued that the officer was justified in placing Appellant in the back seat of the police car:

[W]ho would put somebody in their car? They might drive away. Second of all, he had a suspicion that there was a meth pipe in the vehicle. He can’t put her back in that vehicle. He shouldn’t leave her out there. He said it was a courtesy. **It was courteous, a female, 18 degrees, to not put her on the street, to let - - not put her on the street, to put her in the patrol car.**

R. 61, l. 16 – R. 62, l. 19 (emphasis added).

Many traffic stops involve the occupants staying in their respective vehicles. Furthermore, the purported courtesy which Belding believed he was extending to Appellant was precisely the pretext for frisking her. Belding circumvented consent and reasonable suspicion under the guise of keeping a female from being cold based upon the mistaken belief that she had a meth pipe in her van. Departmental policy does not supersede the Fourth Amendment. Belding was unable to discern a plastic bowl-like container from a glass meth pipe from five feet away. Rather than further investigating the object, he detained Appellant.

At trial, the State sought to defend Belding's actions by arguing that law enforcement is entitled to make reasonable mistakes. Defense counsel distinguished the State's reliance on United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 104 S. Ct. 3405, 82 L. Ed. 2d 677 (1984):

In the Leon case, we have a case where an officer makes a traffic stop, looks on his computer or calls - - I don't know what year it is. He looks at his computer. He calls in. The word that he gets is that there is a ... search warrant on this person. He does the search, finds something illegal, turns out later that that was a mistake. There was no search warrant.

R. 65, ll. 10 – 18.

Furthermore, as conveyed by defense counsel, in both Leon and Herring v. United States²:

[W]hat the officer is relying on is information that he got from a police clerk in another county ... So in both of those cases, what you have is a police officer who is relying on information, bad information, that they got from a third party. **From an entirely different person.** That they relied on it, because they have no reason to doubt that it would be wrong. It turns out that information was wrong and the search would not have been justified had they known that. You can't blame the officer for searching, right? Okay.

In this case, what **you have is an officer who made his own mistake and is, therefore, relying on his own mistake.** Right? That's factually different from those cases.

R. 65, l. 23 – R. 66, l. 10 (emphasis added).

There is a public policy problem with allowing officers to justify a bad search by saying "I goofed and I thought that it was a pipe and it wasn't," because "then we'd never have a ... bad search." R. 67, ll. 5 – 16. Additionally, it is difficult to characterize Belding's mistake as reasonable. By his own admission, he was "five or six feet" from Appellant's van when he saw the object which he believed to be a meth pipe. Belding was driving a police car at night; his

² 555 U.S. 135, 129 S. Ct. 695, 172 L. Ed. 2d 496 (2009).

eyesight should have been sufficient enough to distinguish a “glass meth pipe” from a plastic container. R. 28, l. 6 – R. 29, l. 11.

Defense counsel also argued that the fact that Appellant’s van was allegedly seen at a house suspected of being involved in drug distribution was insufficient due to a lack of evidence:

[Law enforcement] saw her car at the house at the drug house earlier, which I will point out that there’s no evidence about when earlier was. We know it was the same night. It doesn’t sound like they followed her from that drug house. Really -- you know, we don’t have anything that says other than it was a similar car, that that was actually her car.

R. 46, ll. 9 – 19.

The trial judge recited her understanding of the facts during the suppression hearing:

[L]et me be clear that our understanding of the facts is the same....The officer activates his blue lights. [Appellant] pulls into a gas station and stops ... Whether close to the pump or not close to the pump. And then she very quickly gets out ... Not running from the car ... [b]ut gets out as if she’s going into the convenience store ... Leaves her door open ... And the officer is able to see something that looks like a meth pipe or he believes could be a meth pipe or to be a meth pipe --- and then detains her --- at that point.

R. 46, l. 25 – R. 47, l. 24.

Belding testified on recross examination that he did not arrest Appellant for failure to stop for a blue light. R. 37, ll. 20 – 22. In fact, Deputy Joseph Corneroli, the other responding officer, testified that he witnessed Belding activate his blue lights and saw when Appellant pulled into the gas station. R. 39, ll. 16 – 23.

Nonetheless, the question of why Appellant may have walked away from Belding after getting out of her van arose. Countering the contention that Appellant sought to evade Belding, defense counsel argued that perhaps Appellant was already going to the gas station, or even that she was already turning left as the blue lights came on. R. 49, ll. 19 – 25. It is conceivable that Appellant did not see the blue lights, as she was likely checking oncoming traffic in order to

complete a left-hand turn. She was probably looking ahead, not in her mirror. In fact, as soon as Belding made himself known to Appellant, she asks whether he wants to see her driver's license. R. 50, ll. 1 – 10. Simply put, “[s]he’s not running away.” R. 50, l. 10.