ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-002170

RECEIVED

DEC 11 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

EVELYN CHRISTINE NIXON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville County Courthouse
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the methamphetamine and other incriminating evidence discovered during the course of the traffic stop because the law enforcement officer who conducted the frisk search that led to the discovery of Appellant's drugs and other illegal items reasonably suspected Appellant was armed and dangerous at the time of the search under the totality of the circumstances, which included the facts Appellant had been observed at a known drug house in a well-known high crime area prior to the traffic stop, Appellant was driving a vehicle in a condition that suggested it may have been stolen, Appellant attempted to physically distance herself from her vehicle and bizarrely left her driver's door open with the keys in the ignition after the officer initiated his patrol vehicle's blue lights and siren, Appellant behaved in a combative and abnormal manner during the stop, and Appellant's vehicle contained an item the officer reasonably believed was a meth pipe.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by denying her motion to suppress the drugs and other incriminating evidence discovered during the traffic stop. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the frisk search that led to the discovery of that evidence was unconstitutional because the circumstances known to the officer at the time of the search were allegedly insufficient to support a reasonable suspicion she was armed and dangerous. To the contrary, Deputy Belding's decision to conduct the frisk search was entirely justified and reasonable because the circumstances known to him at the time of the search, which included the facts Appellant had been observed at a known drug house in a well-known high crime area prior to the traffic stop; Appellant was driving a vehicle in a condition that suggested it may have been stolen, Appellant attempted to physically distance herself from her vehicle and bizarrely left her driver's door open with the keys in the ignition after the officer initiated his patrol vehicle's blue lights and siren, Appellant behaved in a combative and abnormal manner during the course of the stop, and Appellant's vehicle contained an item the officer reasonably believed was a meth pipe, led him to reasonably suspect Appellant was armed and dangerous. Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's suppression motion, and her ruling was fully supported by the evidence and testimony presented during trial. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In search and seizure cases, an appellate court in South Carolina is limited to determining if there is any evidence to support the trial court's findings and can only reverse due to clear error. State v. Flowers, 360 S.C. 1, 5, 598 S.E.2d 725, 727 (Ct. App. 2004); see State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) (“[W]e will review the trial court’s ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.”). The reviewing court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by the evidence. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002). However, the appellate court must affirm the trial court if there is any evidence supporting the ruling. See State v. Moore, 415 S.C. 245, 251, 781 S.E.2d 897, 900 (2016) (“[A]ppellate courts must affirm if there is any evidence to support the trial court’s ruling.”); State v. Morris, 411 S.C. 571, 578, 769 S.E.2d 854, 858 (2015) (“ ‘When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.’ ” (citation omitted)). Critically, the appellate court will not reverse merely because it would have reached a different conclusion than the trial judge. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009); see Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. at 70, 572 S.E.2d at 459 (“In State v. Brockman, . . . [w]e concluded the appellate court would not review the trial judge’s ultimate determination de novo but, rather, would apply a deferential standard of review.”).

ANALYSIS

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches

and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. Significantly, based on the plain language of that constitutional provision, the touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness. See Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991) (“The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.”). As a result, **only** unreasonable searches and seizures are constitutionally prohibited, and law enforcement officers are not required to be perfect or mistake-free in order to be in compliance with the constitutional requirements regarding searches and seizures. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”); see also Heien v. North Carolina, ___ U.S. ___, 135 S. Ct. 530, 536 (2014) (“To be reasonable is not to be perfect, and so the Fourth Amendment allows for some mistakes on the part of government officials, giving them ‘fair leeway for enforcing the law in the community’s protection.’ ” (citation omitted)).

Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, “[a] police officer may stop and briefly detain and question a person for investigative purposes, without treading upon his Fourth Amendment rights, when the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts, short of probable cause for arrest, that the person is involved in criminal activity.” State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 248, 525 S.E.2d 535, 539 (Ct. App. 1999); see State v. Robinson, 306 S.C. 399, 402, 412 S.E.2d 411, 413 (1991) (“To justify a brief stop and detention, the police officer must have a reasonable suspicion that the person has been involved in criminal activity.”); see also United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989) (“[T]he police can stop and briefly detain a person for investigative purposes if the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts that criminal activity ‘may be afoot,’ even if the officer lacks probable cause.” (citation omitted)). For Fourth Amendment purposes, a traffic stop of a vehicle, along with the

detention of individuals during the stop, constitutes a seizure. State v. Maybank, 352 S.C. 310, 315, 573 S.E.2d 851, 854 (Ct. App. 2002). Significantly, the initiation of an automobile stop is reasonable per se when either probable cause exists to believe a traffic violation has occurred or reasonable suspicion exists to believe the occupants of the vehicle are involved in criminal activity. See Knight v. State, 284 S.C. 138, 141, 325 S.E.2d 535, 537 (1985) (“[A] police officer may stop an automobile and briefly detain its occupants, even without probable cause to arrest, if he has a reasonable suspicion that the occupants are involved in criminal activity.”); State v. Williams, 351 S.C. 591, 598, 571 S.E.2d 703, 707 (Ct. App. 2002) (“Where probable cause exists to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, the decision to stop the automobile is reasonable per se.”); see also Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 810 (1996) (“An automobile stop is thus subject to the constitutional imperative that it not be ‘unreasonable’ under the circumstances. As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.”).

Once a lawful traffic stop is initiated, an officer “may request a driver’s license and vehicle registration, run a computer check, and issue a citation.” State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 98, 623 S.E.2d 840, 847 (Ct. App. 2005). Additionally, based on “the inordinate risk” an officer faces to his or her safety while conducting a traffic stop, the officer may order the driver and any passengers to exit the vehicle pending the completion of the stop. Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 110 (1977); see Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408, 415 (1997) (“[A]n officer making a traffic stop may order passengers to get out of the car pending completion of the stop.”); see also United States v. Sakyi, 160 F.3d 164, 168 (4th Cir. 1998) (“[E]very traffic stop poses a meaningful level of risk to the safety of police officers. . . . [T]he substantial risk to police officers during traffic stops is ‘too plain’ for argument.” (citations omitted)).

Beyond those measures, an officer may also conduct a frisk search of the driver or any passenger in a vehicle during the course of a stop if the officer harbors “reasonable suspicion that the person subjected to the frisk is armed and dangerous.” Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323, 327 (2009); see State v. Adams, 397 S.C. 481, 492, 725 S.E.2d 523, 529 (Ct. App. 2012) (“An officer conducting a lawful traffic stop may conduct a pat-down search for weapons if the officer ‘has reason to believe that the person is armed and dangerous.’ ” (citations omitted)); State v. Odom, 376 S.C. 330, 335, 656 S.E.2d 748, 751 (Ct. App. 2007) (“[P]olice may briefly detain and conduct a reasonable search for weapons where the officer has reason to believe the person is armed.”). For a frisk search to be reasonable and justified, “[t]he officer need not be absolutely certain that the individual is armed; the issue is whether a reasonably prudent man in the circumstances would be warranted in the belief that his safety or that of others was in danger.” Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968); see also United States v. Swann, 149 F.3d 271, 274 (4th Cir. 1998) (recognizing “the standard justifying a frisk is not onerous”). “Among the circumstances to be considered in connection with [the] issue [of the propriety of a stop and frisk] are the ‘characteristics of the area’ where the stop occurs, the time of the stop, whether late at night or not, as well as any suspicious conduct of the person accosted such as an obvious attempt to avoid officers or any nervous conduct on the discovery of their presence.” United States v. Bull, 565 F.2d 869, 870-871 (4th Cir. 1977).

Reasonable suspicion is something more than a general hunch and consists of “ ‘a particularized and objective basis’ that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.” State v. Lesley, 326 S.C. 641, 644, 486 S.E.2d 276, 277 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417 (1981)); see State v. Willard, 374 S.C. 129, 134, 647 S.E.2d 252, 255 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Reasonable suspicion is more than a general hunch but less than what is

required for probable cause.”); see State v. Rogers, 368 S.C. 529, 534, 629 S.E.2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Reasonable suspicion is something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch.”). Importantly, it “ ‘is not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules, but, rather, entails common sense, nontechnical conceptions that deal with factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent persons, not legal technicians, act.’ ” State v. Provet, 391 S.C. 494, 500, 706 S.E.2d 513, 516 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting United States v. Foreman, 369 F.3d 776, 781 (4th Cir. 2004)). “In this highly fact-specific inquiry, reasonable suspicion ‘is a fluid concept which takes its substantive content from the particular context in which the standard is being assessed.’ ” State v. Wallace, 392 S.C. 47, 51-52, 707 S.E.2d 451, 453 (Ct. App. 2011). Furthermore, the reasonable suspicion standard “is a less demanding standard than probable cause and requires a showing considerably less than preponderance of the evidence[.]” Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000).

In determining the existence of reasonable suspicion, the totality of the circumstances must be considered. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 101, 623 S.E.2d at 849. In reviewing the totality of the circumstances, the individual factors establishing suspicion must not be considered piecemeal or in isolation. See United States v. Branch, 537 F.3d 328, 337 (4th Cir. 2008) (“Courts must look at the ‘cumulative information available’ to the officer . . . and not find a stop unjustified based merely on a ‘piecemeal refutation of each individual’ fact and inference[.]” (citations omitted)). Instead, all of the circumstances, including the officer’s own experience and specialized training, must be considered as a whole to determine whether the officer’s actions were reasonable in light of all of the information available to him at the time. See United States v. Mason, 628 F.3d 123, 129 (4th Cir. 2010) (“[J]ust as one corner of a picture might not reveal the picture’s subject or nature, each component that contributes to reasonable suspicion might

not alone give rise to reasonable suspicion.”); see also United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002) (“[W]e have said repeatedly that [reviewing courts] must look at the ‘totality of the circumstances’ of each case to see whether the detaining officer has a ‘particularized and objective basis’ for suspecting legal wrongdoing. The process allows officers to draw on their own experience and specialized training to make inferences from and deductions about the cumulative information available to them that ‘might well elude an untrained person.’ ” (citations omitted)). “In applying the concept of reasonable suspicion to the various facts of a case, ‘[i]t is the entire mosaic that counts, not single tiles.’ ” Wallace, 392 S.C. at 52, 707 S.E.2d at 453 (quoting United States v. Whitehead, 849 F.2d 849, 858 (4th Cir. 1988)). Thus, the presence of several factors seemingly consistent with innocence can establish reasonable suspicion when viewed together in totality. Sokolow, 490 U.S. at 9; see United States v. Moore, 817 F.2d 1105, 1107 (4th Cir. 1987) (“While these factors, viewed in isolation, may point to [Moore]’s innocence, ‘it must be rare indeed that an officer observes behavior consistent only with guilt and incapable of any innocent interpretation.’ ” (citation omitted)).

In the case sub judice, Appellant contends Deputy Belding violated her constitutional rights by conducting the frisk search because the officer allegedly did not have a particularized and objective basis to suspect she was armed and dangerous at the time of the search. Contrary to Appellant’s contentions, the circumstances known to the officer at the time of the search coupled with the officer’s training and experience led the officer to harbor a reasonable suspicion Appellant was armed and dangerous.⁸ Therefore, under the totality of the circumstances, Deputy Belding’s decision to conduct the frisk search was a reasonable one, and the trial judge properly

⁸ Notably, those suspicions proved to be entirely correct as Appellant was, in fact, armed with a razor blade on the night of the incident. (R. pp. 17-19).

denied Appellant's motion to suppress the methamphetamine and other incriminating evidence discovered during the search.

Establishing the reasonableness of the officer's suspicions, the traffic stop itself occurred in a high crime area, and Appellant's vehicle was observed at the home of a known drug dealer prior to the stop. See Wardlow, 528 U.S. at 124 (recognizing a person's presence in a high crime area is one relevant contextual consideration in a reasonable suspicion analysis); see also State v. Banda, 371 S.C. 245, 254, 639 S.E.2d 36, 41 (2006) ("Given the frequent association between drugs and guns, Lawson's safety concerns were justified based on the vehicle's apparent connection to a known drug dealer."); see generally Marks v. Criminal Injuries Comp. Bd., 196 Md. App. 37, 70, 7 A.3d 665, 684 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2010) ("There can be no serious dispute that there is an intimate relationship between violence and drugs."). Additionally, Appellant behaved in a bizarre and highly unusual manner immediately after the traffic stop was initiated by abruptly stopping her vehicle, ignoring the patrol vehicle's activated blue lights and siren, and rapidly leaving her vehicle with the driver's door open and the keys in the ignition, which Deputy Belding recognized to be a sign the vehicle potentially was stolen or contained contraband in light of the fact Appellant clearly appeared to be attempting to distance herself from it. See United States v. Moody, 485 F.2d 531, 535 (3rd Cir. 1973) (finding the defendant's act of fleeing from his car while leaving the keys in the ignition reasonably supported the officers' suspicions the car contained contraband); see also United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 885 (1975) ("The driver's behavior may be relevant, as erratic driving or obvious attempts to evade officers can support a reasonable suspicion."); Bull, 565 F.2d at 870-871 (recognizing an obvious attempt to avoid a law enforcement officer can support the existence of reasonable suspicion justifying a stop and frisk). Similarly, during the course of the stop, Deputy

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